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Ei Group Limited

STRATEGIC REPORT
Registered No: 02562808

The directors present their report and accounts for the 52 weeks ended 25 September 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

Ei Group Limited is a subsidiary of and operates as of part of the group of companies owned by Stonegate Pub
Company Topco Sarl (“the Group”). Please refer to note 29 for further details.

The principa!l activity of the Company is the ownership of an estate of public houses in the United Kingdom.
These properties are geographically spread across the UK and are let to tenants under various types of
agreements namely:

Pub Partners — the core estate is leased to publicans on tied leases where we work in partnership with publicans
to develop great pub businesses. Income is earned from rent and from the supply of beer and other drink
products which the publican is contracted to buy from us.

Managed — Some of the Company’s properties are leased to other Group companies who pay rent and then
operate the properties as managed pubs. This includes Stonegate, Craft Union and Managed Investments.

Commercial Properties — A portfolio of the estate is leased to third parties on commercial property terms.

The Company also contracts with another Group company being Unique Pub Properties Limited {UPPL). UPPL
has its own estate of pubs predominantly let on tied leases. UPPL has outsourced the supply of beer and other
drink product and all other aspects of estate management to the Company and the Company therefore pays
over a net income based on a fixed procurement fee per barrel in respect of product supplied and receives an
asset management fee based on a fixed fee per site.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited (previously known as
Stonegate Pub Company Bidco Limited) and is financed through an intercompany loan facility provided by Leased
and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited (previously known as Stonegate Pub Company Bidco Limited) of £1,234 million
which is repayable on 10 March 2027 and accrues interest at 8.25%.

Sales have continued to recover well since reopening last year following lockdown restrictions, despite the
impact from Covid-19 on the Christmas trading period. The current cost of living crisis, exacerbated by the war
in Ukraine which has driven up energy and food prices in particular, has continued pressure on consumers and
the trading environment. Additional costs are being offset as much as possible by price rises and operational
productivity.

The announcements of domestic and business energy price caps are welcomed due to the impact on our
publicans businesses in terms of both the impact on guest disposable income and the reduction of cost downside
from potential further adverse market price increases. We welcome the extension of the energy price guarantee
until June 2023 however, we expect our total energy and utility costs to increase significantly in the coming year.

The above has significantly affected the results for the period such that turnover increased by £172 million or
74% from £231 million in the period ended 26 September 2021 to £403 million in the period ended 25 September
2022 and underlying operating costs increased by £89 million or 60%, from £149 million in the period ended 26
September 2021 to £238 million in the period ended 25 September 2022. As a result, the underlying operating
profit for the period amounted to £140 million (2021: £57 million). The total operating profit increased by 149%
from £55 million in the period ended 26 September 2021 to £137 million in the period ended 25 September
2022. The profit before tax for the period amounted to £1 million (2021: £85 million). For a reconciliation of
underlying and non-underlying items see note 4.

The Company owns an estate of properties with a fair value of £1.5 billion (2021: £1.5 billion). The properties
identified for disposal and held in non-current assets held for sale were valued internally based on their
marketed value. The remaining estate was valued externally by GVA Grimley (t/a Avison Young) at 25 September
2022.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPlIs)

The financial KPIs below are used by the Company to measure its performance:
e Underlying earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) of £165 million
(2021: £84 million) see note 4
e Underlying operating profit of £140 million (2021: £57 million) see note 4
e Qperating profit of £137 million (2021: £55 million)
e Profit before tax of £1 million (2021: £85 million)

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The principal risks facing the Company are described below. This is not an exhaustive analysis.

These risks are monitored on a Group basis and there are formal management processes in place to identify and
evaluate these risks.

General economy

The Company’s business operations are sensitive to economic conditions and the general economic outlook
remains uncertain.

Risks to the Company’s day-to-day trading include deterioration in consumer spending prompted by any
downturn in the economy together with potential shifts in consumer spending patterns. The fundamental need
for the UK consumer to sacialise will always remain, however changes in consumer behaviour are often rapid.
Therefore, there is a risk to market share if the Company is not positioned to quickly react to these changes. The
Group’s Segment Strategy teams, involving marketers, operators, and finance, meet regularly to ensure
segments respond quickly. .

The hospitality industry is facing significant inflationary cost pressures across drink, food and wage lines as well
as the impact of increased energy costs. Although these do not all directly affect the Company, they do affect
publican profitability due to decreased consumer spending or an increase in the underlying cost base of
publicans. The Group has a team of regional managers whose role it is to support its publicans, staying close to
their businesses, understanding the pressures and providing support where necessary.

In addition, the Group has agreed beer, food and distribution contracts with suppliers until 2024 and energy
prices have been capped until March 2023 with an extension of government support around this area continuing
now until March 2024. Where possible these effects have been mitigated by retail price rises. Staffing levels are
closely monitored in the Managed business to ensure efficiency of staff rostering and manage labour costs.

The Company regularly monitors its key income streams and publicans’ performance to ensure the Company is
competitively placed in the market, including regularly reviewing financial forecasts to assess the impact of
economic conditions on its budget, strategic plans and its publicans. As a Group, we are well placed to react to
additional competition for leisure spending as we have the scale and tools available to support our publicans.

Careful consideration is given to all publicans’ requests for additional operational and financial support as well
as assessing appropriate investment in the development of our pubs to ensure that we remain competitively
placed in the market.

Financial instrument risk

At the period end the Company's financial instruments include intercompany loans and cash. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Company’s operations. The main risk arising from the
Company’s financial instruments is liquidity risk as all interest rates are fixed. There is no currency exposure as
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instrument risk (continued)

all transactions are in sterling. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks on a
Group basis and they are summarised below, including the impact of cashflow risk for the Company.

Liquidity Risk
The Company has exposure to liquidity risk, being the risk that payments cannot be made when they fall due.

The Company’s current objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of the intercompany debt.

This objective is achieved through the following processes:
e Regular cash flow forecasting and reporting through the treasury function
e Regular review of the Company’s cash position and requirements to repay the interest due to Leased
and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited {previously known as Stonegate Pub Company Bidco Limited) as required.

Cash flow risk

Cash flow risk is driven by the fact that cash flow could fluctuate throughout the period due to a range of
different factors such as working capital, investment and financing, payment management, employee
management and the industry environment. The Company carry out regular cash flow forecasting and reporting
through the treasury function with regular review of the Company’s cash position in conjunction with the
Group's cash position and requirements.

Credit risk

Credit risk is primarily driven by the credit terms awarded to its publicans. Extensions of credit have been given
to publicans during the pandemic, but the dedicated credit control function together with the operations team
have worked with publicans to ensure levels of debt have reduced and remain in line with Company
expectations. However, credit risk is not considered ta be a significant risk to the Company.

Price risk

Price risk is primarily driven by fluctuation in the price of goods for both sale and purchase. For further details
of this see the General economy section above regarding the contracts in place with suppliers and the mitigation
of rising costs with retail price rises.

Regulatory risks

On 21 July 2016 a Statutory Code of Practice, introduced by the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Act
2015, came into effect which has since been through a planned statutory review process which has not resulted
in a material change to the fundamental basis of the Code. The Pubs Code applies to those companies with over
500 pubs operating under tied leased and tenancy agreements in England and Wales, and is overseen by an
independent Adjudicator.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)
Regulatory risks

The legislation includes a tenant’s right, under certain circumstances, to change the freely-negotiated
commercial terms of their existing agreement to a new Market Rent Only (MRO) compliant agreement. This
enables some occupational tenants to elect to opt-out of the supply tie at certain points or after certain
exceptional events during the term of their lease agreement and therefore occupy the premises on a standard
commercial property lease, paying rent only. In the event that a tenant elected to invoke this option, whilst our
income derived from the supply of tied drinks products would be partially offset by increases in rent, it is possible
that total income and property valuations could be adversely affected by this element.

Since the Code’s introduction we have not experienced a material impact on our financial results, however, the
risk to income remains.

DIRECTORS DUTIES UNDER SECTION 172 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006

Ei Group Limited directors have acted in a way that they considered, in good faith, to be most likely to promote
the success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole and in doing so have given regard, amongst
other matters, to the following considerations in the decisions taken during the financial period ended 25
September 2022:

- The likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

- The interests of the Company's employees;

- The need to foster the Company's business relationships with publicans, suppliers and others;

- The impact of the Company's operations on the community and environment;

- The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
- The need to act fairly between members of the Company.

The Board has a duty under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 to promote the success of the Company and,
in doing so, must take account of the effect on other stakeholders of how it manages the business of the
Company, whether these stakeholders are from within the Company, in its group or outside the Company and
its group.

Throughout the period the Board has kept in mind these responsibilities as it has supervised and monitored the
busifess activities and prospects of the Company and as it has considered, and where appropriate, made
decisions relating to strategic aspects of the Company's affairs.

In carrying out these functions, the Board had regard to those stakeholders which it had identified as being of
significant importance, as listed below:

- The Company's ultimate shareholder, who benefit from the success of the Company and therefore all
business decisions are made by the Board so as to ultimately enhance the medium to long term value
of the Company and Group;

- Publicans, who rely on the Company to maintain the estate, supply chain and act fairly in a supportive

manner; and
- Suppliers, who we look to form long-term working relationships with in order to harness price benefits

for us and demand for product/service for them.
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DIRECTORS DUTIES UNDER SECTION 172 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2006 (CONTINUED)

There is a robust and transparent process in place to provide an appropriate level of direction and support in
the identification, assessment and management of risks across all areas of the business which have the potential
to seriously damage the financial position, the Company’s responsibilities to our guests, the Company’s
reputation and relationships with key stakeholders. In making their decisions, the Directors consider each
stakeholder group and the impact that the outcome of any decisions may have on them to ensure they are in
the best interests of the Company now and in the longer term. The most significant matters considered by the
Board in the current period related to the recovery of the business from the Covid-19 pandemic followed by the
challenges faced due to deterioration in consumer spending prompted by the forecast downturn in the
economy.

Throughout these periods of uncertainty, the Board remain committed to making decisions that safeguard our
people and ensure the business remains financially viable. The main issue faced by the Board has been to
preserve cash which meant making decisions about the timing of various payments but ensuring that working
relationships with our valued suppliers were maintained. The Board is confident that each decision was made in
the best interests of the long-term success of the Company whilst also weighing up and considering the interests
of the identified stakeholder groups.

On behalf of the Board

D Ross
22 June 2023
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the 52 weeks ended 25 September 2022 and since the end of the
period were as follows:

M Dale (resigned 8 August 2022} :
S D Longbottom (resigned 24 February 2023)

B J Magnus (resigned 8 August 2022)

D McDowall (appointed 24 February 2023)

I T Payne

D A Ross

Directors benefited from qualifying third party indemnity provisions in place during the financial period
and at the date of this report.

ENVIRONMENT

The Company as part of the wider Group headed by Stonegate Pub Company Topco Sarl recognises its
responsibility to achieve good environmental practice and to continue to strive for improvement in areas
of environmental impact. Our approach is to work towards continuous improvement through education,
communication and direct action where applicable. Details of the Group’s environmental policies are
discussed in the Stonegate Pub Company’s Annual Report and Accounts, which can be obtained from 3
Monkspath Hall Road, Solihull, United Kingdom, B90 4S).

The assets owned by the Company are not under our operational control and therefore the Company is
not responsible for any emissions.

EMPLOYEES

The Company had no employees during the period. During the prior period all employees were transferred
to another company within the Group. Up to the point of transfer, as part of the Stonegate Group, great
importance was placed on the involvement, development and well-being of all employees within the
Company. All employees were kept informed of developments through regular meetings, calls, videos and
quarterly updates.

Employee engagement

Whilst the Company had employees, ensuring a high level of engagement was particularly challenging and
important due to the impact that Covid-19 had on our usual ways of working following the period of
furlough leave for many of our employees. Ensuring all employees felt a part of the Stonegate family and
protecting their wellbeing was a key challenge for the Board and methods of communication adopted
during the pandemic continued to be used. The main communication tool for Stonegate to be able to
reach those employees was regular CEO recorded briefings which covered key developments and the
Company’s response to them. The Company also continued to make available tools for employees to
improve their own mental health. The Company’s engagement pulse survey scores illustrated that
communication had been a key strength of the Company over the past year and employees were generally
engaged with the business and its strategy.

Employee Wellbeing

Whilst the Company had employees they were able to access the Stonegate operated, transparent career

- pathway “Albert’s Theory of Progression”, based around the character of Albert Einstein. Stonegate also
utilised a strength-based recruitment approach within the Company for all team members, whereby an
applicant must bass the ‘Strength Quiz’ prior to being considered for interview. This ensured that we were
recruiting people who had the right personality and attributes for our business, rather than simply seeking
to hire people with prior experience in our sector.
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EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

This recruitment process was then complemented by a rigorous 6-week induction pracess which ensured
that all new hires received the required basic training to be effective in their role.

As well as internal career pathways, there were many other personal development opportunities provided
to people across the Company. Examples included our investment in delivering Stephen Covey's ‘7 Habits
of Effective Managers’ to all line managers, and an on-line learning platform for all employees.

The Company considered applications for employment from disabled persons where the requirement of
the job could be adequately fulfilled by a disabled or handicapped person. Where €xisting employees
became disabled, it was the Company’s policy wherever practicable to provide continuing employment
under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development and promotion to
disabled employees wherever appropriate.

CUSTOMERS

The directors have had regard to the need to foster the Company's business relationships with customers,
both publicans and consumers, including the impact of principal decisions taken by the Company on these
stakeholders. As restrictions eased during the prior period, it was important to ensure support was
provided to publicans to keep teams and customers confident they could safely socialise and work.
Customer insights meant we could understand their attitudes towards the pandemic and the various
safety measures operated by our publicans to reduce the risk of infections spreading.

DIVIDENDS

The Company did not pay a dividend during the period (period to 26 September 2021: £nil) and the
directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (26 September 2021: £nil).

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Company will continue to own and operate an estate of public houses in the United Kingdom for the
foreseeable future.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Further details of the Company’s policy on financial instruments are set out in the Strategic Report and in
note 22. .

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE TO AUDITORS

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they
are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Subsequent to the year end on 23 January 2023 the Company issued 50,538,214,520 bonus shares from
its capital reserves. On the following day it carried out a capital reduction to realise its share premium
account, capital redemption reserve and the bonus share capital it had issued the previous day. The
Company then distributed 767 of its pubs to its parent, Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited, on 25 January
2023 by way of a dividend in specie, this reduced net assets by £587 million. At the same time
intercompany leases were established between the Company and Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited to
mirror the terms of the occupational leases the Company continues to hold with third parties in the
pubs. A further 204 pubs were distributed by way of a dividend in specie to Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (CONTINUED)

Limited on 21 April 2023, reducing net assets by a further £165 million and additional intercompany leases
established.

Following the period end, on 31 March 2023, Enterprise Managed Investments Limited acquired the
remaining 25% of the shares in Dirty Liquor Limited and therefore as a result the Company is now a 100%
indirectly owned subsidiary of Ei Group Limited. Furthermore, Dirty Liquor Alpha Limited was dissolved on
7 March 2023.

GOING CONCERN

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. The statement headed “Going
Concern” on page 24 and 25 sets out certain factors to the Directors’ consideration in reaching this
assessment.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company has in place internal control and risk management systems in relation to the Company's
financial reporting process and the process for preparation of financial accounts. These systems include
policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets; provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP;
require representatives of the businesses to clarify that their reported information gives a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the business and its results for the period; and review and reconcile reported
data.

Wates Corporate Governance Principles

Under The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018, the Company applies the Wates
Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies (“the Principles”).

Set out below is how the board has applied the Principles in the current and prior periods.

Principle 1 — Leadership and Purpose

The purpose of the Company and wider Group is to own and operate pubs and venues that are at the
heart of the local community.

The strategic objective of the Company is to obtimise value creation for every asset in our portfolio
through our Publican Partnership, group Managed and Commercial Properties operating models.

The Company’s vision is underpinned by the following values:

e We have Fun — we take pride and enjoy what we do; we celebrate success and recognise
achievements; we go out of our way to make sure customers and teams have a great time and fun
never compromises our safe and legal responsibility.

e  We invest Wisely — We spend the Company’s money like it’s our own; we keep looking for smarter
and more efficient ways of doing things; we effectively plan and prepare, and we invest our time and
money in developing talent.

e  Raring to Go — We hit the ground running; we are willing to get involved; we commit to doing our best
every day and we are adaptable and see change as an opportunity.
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Wates Corporate Governance Principles (continued)
Principle 1 - Leadership and Purpose (continued)

e  We are Straightforward — We keep things simple and do not over complicate; we do what we say we
are going to do; we are open and honest with each other and we approach challenges with solutions
in mind.

e We are One Team — We treat each other with respect; we develop ourselves and our teams; we
share great ideas and we take responsibility for our actions.

Principle 2 — Board Composition

The Board members collectively hold a balanced range of skills and expertise and work together effectively
to deliver the Company’s strategy:

lan Payne MBE (Chairman of Stonegate Pub Company)

lan, an accomplished expert in the licensed leisure sector, has held Board positions with Bass Taverns,
Stakis plc. and Ladbrokes gaming. He was CEQ of the Laurel Pub Company from its inception in May 2001
through to December 2004 and later Chairman of Bay Restaurant Group Limited and Town and City Pub
Group Limited prior to the formation of Stonegate Pub Company Limited in November 2010. lan started
his career in the trade behind the bar of a local pub more than 40 years ago.

David McDowall (Chief Executive Officer of Stonegate Pub Company) — appointed 24 February 2023
Before being appointed Chief Executive Officer of Stonegate Pub Company in February 2023 David was
President and Chief Operating Officer of Brewdog, the independent craft beer, bar, venue and hospitality
company. - He is a highly regarded operator who has been instrumental in building Brewdog which has
grown exponentially since its inception in 2007.

Simon Longbottom {Chief Executive Officer of Stonegate Pub Company) — resigned 24 February 2023
Simon has spent much of his career within the licensed industry. Prior to joining Stonegate Simon was a
managing director of Pub Partners, a division of Greene King, as well as a managing director of Gala Cora!’s
gaming division. Simon has also held senior positions with Mill House Inns and Mitchell’s & Butlers plc.

David Ross (Chief Financial Officer of Stonegate Pub Company)

David qualified with PriceWaterhouseCoopers in 1999 before joining Boots as a senior internal audit
manager. After holding various senior roles in Boots, David joined the Spirit Group in 2004 as Head of
Finance for Investments and the development company, Gastro Pubs & Bars. He joined Laurel in 2007 as
Head of Finance and held that position until the break-up of Laurel in 2008 when David was appointed
Head of Finance of Bay Restaurant Group Limited and Town and City Pub Group Limited. He was appointed
Chief Financial Officer of Stonegate Pub Company Limited in January 2012.

Manijit Dale (Founding Partner of TDR Capital LLP) — resigned 8 August 2022

Prior to founding TDR Capital LLP in 2002, Manjit was Managing Partner at DB Capital Partners Europe and
has almost 20 years’ experience in private equity. Manjit graduated from Cambridge University with an
Honours Degree in Economics.

Brian Magnus (Senior Partner at TDR Capital LLP) — resigned 8 August 2022

Brian joined TDR Capital LLP in September 2012. Prior to joining TDR Capital LLP, he was a managing
director at Morgan Stanley where he was European head of Morgan Stanley Private Equity, and formerly
head of UK investment banking. He joined Morgan Stanley in 2000 having previously worked in the
corporate finance division of Schroders, a company later acquired by Citigroup.
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Wates Corporate Governance Principles {continued)
Principle 3 — Director Responsibilities

Board meetings are held at a Group level to ensure the coordinated implementation of Group strategy
across all group companies.

The Board receives regular and timely information on all key aspects of the business including risks and
opportunities, the financial performance of the business, strategy, operational matters, and sustainability.
This allows informed and timely decisions to be made to protect the welfare of the Group; to allow
opportunities to be taken where they are in the best interest of the Group; and to create and sustain long
term value and growth.

The Board makes use of committees in order to effectively implement its strategy including appraisal of
Group assets to ensure that the greatest value can be realised from each site by applying the most suitable
retail format and appropriate operating model.

Principle 4 — Opportunity and Risk

The board seeks out opportunities while mitigating risk in order to create and preserve the long term value
of the Company. The Company’s key risks and mitigations are outlined in the Strategic report on pages 2
-6.

Principle 5 — Remuneration

Directors remuneration has been borne by fellow group companies and not recharged to the Company.
The amount attributable to qualifying services provided to the Company was £257,000 (2021: £485,000)

for this period.

Principle 6 — Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement

The Company has a range of stakeholders including the Company's ultimate shareholder, employees,
publicans and suppliers. Mutually beneficial and sustainable relationships are developed and maintained
in order to protect and grow long term value for both the Company and it's stakeholders.

Shareholders
All business decisions are made by the Board to ultimately enhance the medium to long term value of the
Company and Group.

Publicans and suppliers
The Company works to maintain good relationships with its Publicans and also works closely with its key
suppliers and distribution partners to ensure good working relationships.

Employees
During the prior period the employment of the Company’s employees was transferred to another group

company. Up until the point of transfer the Company actively engaged with employees to provide support
and engage in meaningful two-way dialogue over issues affecting employees. For further information see
the Employees section of the Directors Report.

i1
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STREAMLINED ENERGY AND CARBON REPORTING

For the current and prior period Ei Group Limited is exempt from disclosure due to disclosure in the Group
accounts. Please refer to the Stonegate Pub Company PIKCO Holdings Limited statutory accounts for the
52 week period ended 25 September 2022 where the requirements are reported on for the Group.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS
The Company made no political donations or incurred any political expenditure during the period (period

ended 26 September 2021: £nil).

AUDITOR
Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and

KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office.

On behalf of the Board

Ko

D Ross
22 june 2023
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under
that law they have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financia! statements;

. assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and
. use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EI GROUP LIMITED

Opinion . »
We have audited the financial statements of Ei Group Limited (“the Company”) for the 52-week period ended

25 September 2022 which comprise the Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Balance
Sheet, the Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 1-3.

In our opinion the financial statements:

e 'give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 25 September 2022 and of its loss for
the 52-week period then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are
independent of the Company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. .
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 3 to the financial statements which indicates that the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern is intrinsically linked to that of the wider group headed by Stonegate Pub Company Limited.
The financial statements of Stonegate Pub Company Limited, authorised for issue on 23 January 2023, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists over its ability to continue as a going concern due to the future uncertain
trading environment facing the group and the need, in a severe but plausible downside scenario, for the group
to obtain additional funding and to negotiate covenant waivers with lenders. These events and conditions, along
with the other matters explained in note 3, constitute a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Going concern basis of preparation

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the company, or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the company’s financial
position means that this is realistic for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the
going concern period”). As stated above, they have also concluded that there is a material uncertainty related
to going concern.

We used our knowledge of the Company and its intra-group trading relationships to identify the inherent risks
to its business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Company’s financial resources or ability to
continue operations over the going concern period. The risks that we considered most likely to adversely affect
the Company's available financial resources and trade over this period were:

¢ the availability of cash given the intragroup trading relationship, and the availability of additional
financing, as may be needed, throughout the Group;

e and therefore, the ability of the Group to achieve its base case forecasts and, in downside scenarios
the availability of such additional funding as may be needed.

We also considered less predictable but realistic second order impacts, such a sudden unexpected downturn in
in trading in the Group.

Our procedures included: We inspected the Group’s forecasts and examined internally provided projections to
assess the Group’s ability to meet liabilities as they fall due over the going concern assessment period, and
examined relevant disclosures in the Group’s most recent financial statements. In our evaluation of the
directors' conclusions, we assessed the completeness and accuracy of the matters covered in the going concern
disclosure.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EI GROUP LIMITED
(CONTINUED)

Our conclusions based on this work:

. we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financia! statements is appropriate; and
. we found the going concern disclosure in note 3 to be acceptable.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

 Enquiring of directors and members of the Operational Board as to the company’s high-level policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or
alleged fraud.

» Reading Board meeting minutes.

» Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of
fraud throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of
controls, in particular the risk that management may be in a position to make inappropriate accaunting entries.
On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because of the existence of
limited incentives and opportunities to make inappropriate accounting entries in relation to revenue.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
We also performed procedures including:

« identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting
documentation. These included those posted to unusual accounts.
» assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of potential bias

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the
directors and other management {as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors and other
management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications
of non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and
taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-
compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance
through the imposition of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such
an effect: The Pubs Code, health and safety, data protection, and certain aspects of company legislation
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(CONTINUED)

recognising the nature of the Company'’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and
inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not
disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our
audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-
compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether,
based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent
with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

e we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

e in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

e inour opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

e the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 13, the directors are responsible for: the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EI GROUP LIMITED
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Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is providled on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

John Hughes (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

One Snowhill

Snow Hill Queensway

Birmingham

B4 6GH

23 June 2023
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Ei Group Limited

INCOME STATEMENT
52 weeks ended 25 September 2022

52 weeks 52 weeks

ended ended

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

Note £m fm

Revenue 5 403 231
Other income 6 - 2
Operating costs before depreciation and amortisation (241) (151)
EBITDA* 162 82
Depreciation and amortisation (25) (27)
Operating profit 7 137 55
Profit on sale of property 10 2 1
Movement in valuation of the estate 11 (18) 14
Investment impairment 17 - (35)
Impairment of intercompany balances 4 (5) -
Income from subsidiaries 12 2 1
Finance income 13 - 1
Finance costs 13 (117) (122)
Net finance costs (117) (121)
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 1 (85)
Taxation 14 (2) 22
Loss for the period (1) (63)

*Earnings before taxation, net finance costs, income from subsidiaries, investment impairment, movements in
valuation of the estate and related assets, net profit on sale of property and depreciation and amortisation.

All of the operations of the Company are continuing.

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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Ei Group Limited

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
52 weeks ended 25 September 2022

52 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
fm £m
Loss for the period (1) (63)
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement:
Unrealised (deficit)/surplus on revaluation of the estate (16) 26
Movement in deferred tax liability related to revaluation of 4 ()
the estate
Revaluation of assets on transfer to investment property (3) (1)
Revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held 5 1
for sale
Impact of rate change on deferred tax liability related to A (18)
revaluation of pub estate
Other comprehensive (loss}/profit for the period net of tax (13) 4
Total comprehensive loss for the period (14) (59)

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.



Ei Group Limited

BALANCE SHEET
At 25 September 2022

25 September 26 September
Note 2022 2021
: £m fm
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 1,549 1,598
Investment property 16 - 109 83
Investments 17 904 904
Financial assets 22 28 42
Trade receivables 20 2 2
2,592 2,629
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 20 775 719
Financial assets 22 2 2
Current tax 1 -
Cash 13 24
791 745
Non-current assets held for sale 18 13 15
Total assets 3,396 3,389
Current liabilities :
Trade and other payables 21 (212) (184)
Financial liabilities 22 (83) (79)
(295) (263)
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities 22 (1,491) (1,493)
Deferred tax 23 (29) (38)
(1,520) (1,531)
Total liabilities (1,815) {1,794)
Net assets 1,581 1,595
Equity
Ordinary shares 24 11 12
Share premium account 25 487 487
Revaluation reserve 25 272 290
Capital redemption reserve 25 14 13
Treasury share reserve 25 - (206)
Other reserve 25 87 87
Profit and loss account 710 912
Total equity 1,581 1,595

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

Agsroved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

D Ross
Director
22 June 2023
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Ei Group Limited

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
At 25 September 2022

Capital Treasury Profit and

Ordinary Share Revaluation redemption share Other loss
shares  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve account Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 27 September 2020 12 487 289 13 (206) 87 972 1,654
Loss for the period - - - - - - (63) (63)
Other comprehensive profit - - 4 - - - - 4
Total comprehensive loss - - 4 - - - (63) (59)
Transfer of realised revaluation surplus - - (3) - - - 3 -
At 26 September 2021 12 487 290 13 (206) 87 912 1,595
Loss for the period - - - - - - (1) (1)
Other comprehensive loss - - (13) - - - - (13)
Total comprehensive loss - - (13) - - - (1) (14)
Cancellation of treasury shares (1) - - 1 206 - (206) -
Transfer of contingent tax - - 1 - - - (1) -
Transfer of realised revaluation surplus - - (6) - - - 6 -
At 25 September 2022 11 487 272 14 - 87 710 1,581

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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Ei Group Limited

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH FRS 10i
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 22 June 2023.

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with the policies set out under the basis of preparation
(see note 2). The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified for the
revaluation of certain property, plant and equipment, investment property and non-current assets held for sale,
in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and on a going concern basis.

The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for
the 52 weeks ended 25 September 2022. The financial statements are prepared in Sterling and are rounded to
the nearest million pounds (£m).

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”).

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of UK-adopted international accounting standards "adopted IFRSs"), but makes amendments
where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the
FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

e The requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure;

e The requirements of paragraph 52 and paragraph 58 of IFRS 16 Leases;

e The requirement in paragraph 38 of I1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to present comparative
information in respect of:

- paragraph 79(aj(iv) of IAS 1; and

- paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment;
- paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible Assets; and

- paragraphs 76 and 79(d) of IAS 40 Investment Property

e The requirements of paragraph 134-136 of 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to disclose
information about capital and how it is managed;

e The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors to provide information about the impact of IFRS’s that have been issued but are
not yet effective;

o The requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 16, 38A, 38B-D and 111 of IAS 1 and the requirements of 1AS 7
Statement of Cash Flows;

e The requirements of IAS 24 Related Party Transactions to disclose transactions entered into between
two parties wholly owned within the same group;

e The requirements of paragraph 16 of IAS 1 to make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance
with IFRS;

e Therequirements of paragraphs 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

e The requirements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115, 118,
119(a) to (c), 120 to 127 and 129 of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company is a private company limited by shares, incorporated in England and registered at 3 Monkspath
Hall Road, Solihull, United Kingdom, B90 4SJ. Itis a subsidiary of Stonegate Pub Company Topco Sarl, a company
registered in Luxembourg. These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual
undertaking. The top UK company which the Company is consolidated into is Stonegate Pub Company PIKCO
Holdings Limited, registered at the same Solihull address as above.
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Ei Group Limited

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The financial statements contain information about Ei Group Limited, as an individual compény and do not
contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group. The Company is exempt under Section 400
of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements as it and its
subsidiary undertaking are included by full consolidation in consolidated financial statements of Stonegate Pub
Company PIKCO Holdings Limited.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The directors consider that the accounting policies set out below are suitable, have been consistently applied
unless otherwise stated and are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

Non-underlying items
The Company uses adjusted figures as key performance measures in addition to those reported under FRS 101
as management believe these measures enable them to assess the underlying performance of the business.

Adjusted figures exclude non-underlying items which comprise exceptional items, non-recurring items and other -
adjusting items. These are items which management consider will distort comparability based on the nature of -
the item, cause of occurrence and scale of impact on reported performance, whilst also not being directly a
result from the underlying trading performance of the Company, nor are in the Company’s direct contro!.

Use of accounting estimates and judgements

The Company makes judgements, estimations and assumptions during the preparation of the financial
statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. The
estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements are discussed below:

Judgements
Classification of non-underlying items

Judgement is used to determine those items that should be classified as non-underlying to give a better
understanding of the underlying trading performance of the Company.

a) Non-underlying operating costs

During the period following the acquisition by Stonegate, assignment premiums where an amount is paid to a
publican in order to take the assignment of a lease or to break a lease at any point other than at renewal are
being treated as non-underlying. These costs are being incurred following the acquisition of the Company and
whilst the Group is reviewing the entire portfolio of assets and moving pubs across segments into their perceived
optimum operating format. This one-off process is likely to take five years, during which time any assignment
premiums paid will be shown as non-underlying.

During the prior period non-underlying operating costs relating to regulatory matters and reorganisational costs
were recognised in the operating costs before depreciation and amortisation line.

b) Net profit/(loss) on sale of property

Net profit/(loss) arising from the sale of property and provisions created in respect of the carrying value of assets
held for sale all of which are not considered to form part of normal trading activities. The Company’s trading
operations are based around the income earned from owning property and therefore the profit or loss made
from the sale of property is considered to be non-underlying.



Ei Group Limited

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
c) Movements in valuation of the estate

Any revaluation that causes the book value of a property held in property, plant and equipment to fall below
historic cost will lead to a charge in the income statement. If that same property later recovers in value so that
its book value exceeds historic cost, the increase in value is credited to the income statement to the extent that
a debit was previously recognised. Where properties identified for disposal are revalued immediately prior to
transfer to non-current assets held for sale, the revaluation movement is recognised on the same basis.

Any gain or loss arising from the change in value of investment property is recognised in the income statement
in the period in which it arises.

The movements in valuation of the estate and related assets do not directly result from underlying trading
performance of the Company in any one reporting period and therefore have been categorised as non-
underlying since they are not in the direct control of the Company.

d) Impairment of intercompany balances
The impairment of intercompany balances is recognised as a charge taken to the income statement.
e) Taxation

A deferred tax liability has been calculated relating to the valuation of the estate. The element recognised on
the balance sheet does not include the taxable temporary difference arising from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. All movements in respect of the deferred tax liability
recognised in the balance sheet are accounted for in the same performance statement as the gross item to which
it relates.

The effect of changes in the enacted rate of tax used to calculate deferred tax is reflected in other comprehensive
income to the extent that it relates to revaluation surpluses therein and in non-underlying profit/loss for all
other elements of deferred tax.

The tax effect of all other non-underlying items is also included within the non-underlying items column in the
income statement.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the Directors consider to be
appropriate for the following reasons. The principal activity of the Company is the ownership of an estate of
public houses in the United Kingdom, some of which are leased to other companies within the group headed by
Stonegate Pub Company Limited (“the Stonegate Group”). The Company also supplies beer and other drink
product and provides all other aspects of estate management to another entity within the Stonegate Group.
The company’s cash flows are therefore dependent on the continuation, volume and pricing of those operations.

The financial position of the Company is set out in the Balance Sheet on page 20 which shows net assets of
£1,581 million {2021: £1,595 million), and the financial performance of the Company is set out in the Income
Statement on page 18 which shows the Company generated a loss after tax of £1 million (2021: £63 million).
The Company is financed by loans owed to group undertakings which totalled £1,309 million at 25 September
2022 details of which are set out in note 22. The Company is also a guarantor on certain loans within the
Stonegate Group (see note 22) and therefore would be jointly and severally liable in the case that the relevant
entities within the Stonegate Group could not meet their obligations under those loan agreements. Subsequent
to the period end the Company has distributed 971 pubs by way of dividend in specie to its parent, Leased and
Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited, details of which are set out in note 30.

The directors have performed a going concern assessment for a period of at least 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements (the going concern assessment period), which includes consideration of
the operational interdependencies between the Company and the Stonegate Group described above. The
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Going concern (continued)

Stonegate Pub Company Limited Group financia! statements, authorised for issue on 23 January 2023, indicate
that a material uncertainty exists over the Stonegate Group's ability to continue as a going concern due to the
future uncertain trading environment facing the group and the need, in a severe but plausible downside
scenario, to obtain additional funding and to negotiate covenant waivers with lenders.

Based on their assessment, the directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial statements
on a going concern basis as they have concluded that the company’s financial position means that this is realistic
for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. However, the interdependencies
between the Company’s operational activities and the Stonegate Group and the other circumstances described
above indicate the existence of a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that the Company may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. These financial statements do
not contain any adjustments that would result from the basis of preparation being inappropriate.

Covid-19 financial support

During the current period no rent concessions have been granted to publicans as a result of Covid-19. During
the prior year management exercised judgement when determining that financial ‘support granted to the
Company’s publicans during the period constituted variable payments under its leases. This judgement was
driven by the Company’s commitment to support its publicans during periods of detrimental changes to their
business autside their contral being part of their agreement with us for the lease of the pub. Management had
determined that the Covid-19 pandemic was such a detrimental change and that the financial support
concessions granted to them fell under the original terms of the lease rather than a modification to the lease.
The effect of this judgement in the 52 week period ended 26 September 2021 was that £25 million of financial
support was recognised during that period and this was the period in which the trigger event for the variable
payments arose. Had the directors instead concluded that the concessions represented a modification of the
existing leases, an amount of up to £25 million would have been spread straight line over the remaining lease
terms, reducing rental income in future periods.

Estimates

Property, plant and equipment, and investment property

Licensed land and buildings are revalued annually to fair value in accordance with RICS Valuation — Global
Standards 2017 and IFRS 13. The valuation methodology uses an estimation of the fair maintainable trade (FMT)
of a pub held in PPE and commercial rent for a property held as an investment property and then applies a
multiple. The FMT is estimated based on historic trends and projected future income whilst the multiples are
determined by our valuers with reference to each specific asset and market information. For more detail on the
FMT and multiples see note 19.

The valuers also make reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties. An adjustment
to any of these assumptions could lead to a material change in the property valuation.

The highest and best use for the licensed land and buildings is assumed to be their current use by the Company,
principally due to the legal restrictions imposed by the agreement with the publican, planning regulations and
the financial implications of a change of use given those restrictions and the Company’s business model.
However, consideration is given to an alternative highest and best use if there are factors that indicate that such
an alternative use exists which is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.

Further information about the valuation of the estate is provided in note 15 of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Estimates (continued)

Investment impairment

The Company tests whether the investment in subsidiary undertakings has been impaired. Management makes
judgements in calculating the recoverable amount based on value-in-use calculations. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cashflows are discounted to their present value using a suitable pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

The estimation of the long term growth rate and the discount rate used are key assumptions. Further details of
the tests and carrying value of the asset are shown in note 17.

Property, plant and equipment
Licensed land and buildings are held at their fair value and landlord’s fixtures and fittings and other assets are
held at cost.

The licensed land and buildings, except for those non-current assets held for sale, are revalued each year by
external valuers or employees who are professionally qualified to carry out such valuations.

Surpluses arising from the revaluation exercise are taken through other comprehensive income to the
revaluation reserve except where they reverse a revaluation decrease relating to the same asset previously
recognised as an expense in the income statement. Any deficit arising from the revaluation exercise is taken
through other comprehensive income to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a surplus in place
relating to the same asset. Any further decrease in value is recognised in the income statement as an expense.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Freehold buildings are depreciated to write off the difference between their
carrying value and residual value over their useful economic life of 50 years. Residual value is reviewed at least
at each financial year end and there is no depreciable amount if residual value is the same as, or exceeds, book
value.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated straight line over the life of the lease.

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings are split into two categories, long life landlord’s fixtures and fittings and short life
landlord’s fixtures and fittings. Both are held at cost less accumulated depreciation. At the start of the period
the useful economic life of additions in the form of long life landlord’s fixtures and fittings has been calculated
at 30 years and short life landlord’s fixtures and fittings has been calculated at five years. Depreciation is charged
on a straight line basis to write off the total cost less residual value over their useful economic life.

Depreciation is provided on other categories of property, plant and equipment over three to 50 years on a
straight line basis to residual value.

Property, plant and equipment that are not included in the revaluation are reviewed annually for indications of
impairment. Where any indications are identified, assets are assessed fully for impairment. Impairment occurs
where the recoverable amount of the asset is less than its carrying amount. Recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Any impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease
to the extent that a surplus exists for the same asset, and thereafter as an expense in the income statement.

Investment property

The Company leases some properties on commercial leases within the Commercial Property segment, the
commercial terms of these leases result in the assets meeting the criteria of investment property.

Properties held as investment property are measured at fair value reflecting market conditions at the balance
sheet date. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are recognised in the
income statement in the period in which they arise. Fair values are determined based on an annual revaluation
by external valuers or employees who are professionally qualified to carry out such valuations.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

c

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investment property (continued)

Transfers are made to/from investment property when there is a change of use evidenced by a change in the
lease terms. When a property transfers from property, plant and equipment to investment property it is
revalued to fair value and the movement recognised in line with the accounting policy described under property,
plant and equipment. When a property transfers from investment property to property, plant and equipment
it is revalued to fair value and the movement recognised in the income statement.

Non-current assets held for sale

Properties identified for disposal which are classified in the balance sheet as non-current assets held for sale are
held at the lower of carrying value on transfer to non-current assets held for sale, as assessed at the time of
transfer, and fair value less costs to sell. The fair value less costs to sell is based on the net estimated realisable
disposal proceeds which are provided by third party property agents who have been engaged to sell the
properties. Licensed land and buildings, investment property and operating lease intangibles are classified as
held for sale when they have been identified for disposal. They must be available for immediate sale in their
present condition and the sale should be highly probable. These conditions are met when management are
committed to the sale, the pub or lease is actively marketed and the sale is expected to occur within one year.

Licensed land and buildings held for sale are not depreciated.

Profits or losses on disposal of property are calculated as the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset within non-current assets held for sale at the date of disposal.

Leases
As a lessee

The Company leases properties and vehicles.

At the inception of a contract the Company assesses whether that contract is or contains a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Company elected not to apply the lessee requirements of IFRS 16 to short-term leases and leases for which
the underlying asset is of low value. The lease payments for such leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

For all other leases where it is the lessee the Cdmpany recognises a lease liability and a right-of-use asset at the
commencement date of the lease.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at commencement
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the
Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the
discount rate.

The carrying amount of the lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and
decreased by lease payments made.

The lease liability is re-measured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index rate or, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee,
or as appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain
to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

For rent concessions in leases the Company assesses whether there is a lease modification. The lease liability is
then re-measured at the present value of the revised lease payments at the modification date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

borrowing rate. The change in the present value of the lease liability is accounted for as an increase to the right-
of-use asset where it relates to a future change, with any element relating to a past payment dated before the
modification date accounted for in the income statement.

The right-of-use asset is recognised at an amount equal to the total of the lease liability, any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, any initial direct costs and the estimated future dismantling,
removal and site restoration costs. The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property in ‘property, plant and equipment’, the same line item as it presents underlying assets of
the same nature that it owns.

Right-of-use assets included in property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost, and subsequently
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurements or
modifications of the lease liability. Where the right-of-use asset is in relation to an investment property it is

'initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance with the Company’s
accounting policies. Where a property held on lease transfers from property, plant and equipment to investment
property the right of use asset is revalued to fair value before transfer.

As a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relevant stand-alone price. When
the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. if this is the case, then the lease is a
finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Company considers certain
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Company is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease
separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

Where a property that is leased is re-leased to a third party and that sub-lease is categorised as a finance lease
the right of use asset is derecognised and it is replaced by a financial asset being the net investment in that
sublease. The net investment in the sub-lease is calculated as the net present value of the future rent payments
receivable at the interest rate implicit in the sub-lease or, if that cannot be readily determined, at the discount
rate used for the head lease. '

The Company applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the
lease. The Company further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the
gross investment in the lease.

The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term as part of revenue.

Repairs and maintenance
Repairs and maintenance expenditure is charged to the income statement as incurred.
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Assignment premiums

Where an amount is paid to a publican in order to take the assignment of a lease or to break a lease at any point
other than at renewal, the payment made is expensed through administrative costs. During the period of five
years following the acquisition of the Company in which time the Group will review the entire estate and move
pubs across segments into their perceived optimum operating format, this will be treated as non-underlying.

Where an amount is paid to a publican in order to regain control of the property at the point of lease renewal
in order that the Group can operate the site as a directly managed pub, the amount is linked to a capital
investment project in order to reposition the property for the managed offering, and the premium paid is
capitalised and depreciated in line with the project spend.

Financial instruments
a) Cash
Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand.

b) Borrowings

Borrowings which represent intercompany loans are measured at amortised cost. This method is used to ensure
that the interest charge associated with the debt, combined with the amortisation of the issue costs, premiums
and discounts, represents a constant percentage of the borrowings across the life of the instrument based on
the estimated cash flows and the contractual terms of the agreement.

¢) Equity instruments

Equity instruments, being ordinary shares issued by the Company, are recorded at the fair value of the proceeds
received, net of any direct issue costs. The nominal value of shares issued is recorded in called up share capital
and the balance of the net proceeds is recorded in share premium.

d) Trade receivables and trade payables ,
Trade receivables are held at their original invoiced amount net of an expected credit loss {(“ECL") allowance
which is based on the simplified model as allowed by IFRS 9, amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are based
on the general model. The Company recognises a provision on this basis when the carrying value of the asset is
not supported by the collateral available.

Trade receivables are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication
of expected losses. If any such indications exist, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and any changes in
expected loss is recognised directly in the Income statement. Receivables are not discounted as the impact of
the time on their realised value is not significant.

Trade payables are held at amortised cost.
e) Intercompany receivables

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are assessed for ECLs on a general approach under IFRS 9, similarly
to trade receivables. The Company recognises a provision on this basis when the carrying value of the asset is
not supported.
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Fair value measurement

The Company measures licensed land and buildings, within property, plant and equipment, investment property
and non-current assets held for sale, at fair value and provides disclosure information in respect of the financial
assets and liabilities.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company.

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use provided that use was physically possible, legally permissible
and financially feasible to access. The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

IFRS 13 requires that all assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

The classification uses the following three-level hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Other techniques whereby the inputs are either directly or indirectly derived from market data.
Level 3 - Inputs used in the valuation are not based on observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Taxation

The tax expense comprises both the tax payable based on taxable profits for the period and deferred tax.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences between
the carrying value of assets and liabilities for accounting and tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.
No deferred tax is recognised if the taxable temporary difference arises from goodwili or the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the tlme of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts and the intention is to either settle on a net basis or realise the asset and liability simultaneously.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and the assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority which are intended
to be settled net or simultaneously.

Tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income. Similarly tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity. Otherwise tax is charged in the income statement. Tax is calculated using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is the fair value of consideration received or receivable for goods and services provided in the normal
course of business, net of discounts and VAT. Revenue is recognised when performance obligations are satisfied
and control has passed to the customer. Revenue from drink and food is recognised at the point at which the
goods are provided. Property rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the life of the lease.
Amusement machine royalties are recognised in the accounting period to which the income relates.

Publican Partnerships

Drink revenue - Drink revenue is earned from the supply of drink products to publicans and revenue is recognised
at the point of delivery to the pub as this is when the performance obligations of the sale are deemed to be met.
At this point physical possession is passed to the publican who takes control of the product. The proceeds from
the sale are recognised as revenue.

Rent revenue - Rent revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease based on the
contractual terms of the lease agreement.
Revenue from amusement and other machines - Amusement machine royalty income represents our share of

the net income earned from machines in our properties. The revenue is recognised in the period to which the
sale relates, and the revenue is determined through the supply of data from a third party.

Commercial Properties

Rent revenue - Rent revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease based on the
contractual terms of the lease agreement.

Government grant

Money received in the form of a government grant is treated as a revenue grant. Therefore, grant income is
recorded within other income in the income statement on a systematic basis in the same periods as the related
expenses occurred.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been approved by shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Treasury shares

The cost of own shares held in treasury is deducted from shareholders’ equity until the shares are cancelled, re-
issued or disposed of. Any proceeds received are also taken to shareholders’ equity. No gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of own shares held.

Operating profit

Operating profit as referred to in the income statement is defined as being profit generated from trading
activities before net profit/(loss) on sale of property, movements in valuation of the estate, investment
impairment, finance costs and taxation.

Non-underlying items
The Company uses adjusted figures as key performance measures in addition to those reported under IFRS as
management believe these measures enable them to assess the underlying performance of the business.

Adjusted figures exclude non-underlying items which comprise exceptional items, non-recurring items and other
adjusting items,
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4. NON-UNDERLYING ITEMS
The Company uses adjusted figures as key performance measures in addition to those reported under FRS101
as management believe these measures better reflect the ongoing trading transactions and enable better
comparability and accountability for performance for them and other stakeholders. Adjusted figures exclude
non-underlying items which comprise exceptional items, non-recurring items and other adjusting items.

Non-underlying items include assignment premiums paid to a publican in order to take the assignment of a lease
or to break a lease at any point other than at renewal during the period post acquisition, the profit/loss on sale
of property, the movement in valuation of the estate and impairment of investments in subsidiaries.

The adjusted figures are derived from the reported figures under FRS 101 as follows:

52 weeks ended 25 September 2022 52 weeks ended 26 September 2021

Non- - Non-

Underlying underlying Underlying underlying
items items Total items items Total
Note £m fm fm £m fm £m
Revenue 5 403 - 403 231 - 231
Other income ‘ 6 - - - 2 - 2
depraciation and amortisation (238 G e (149) @ asy
EBITDA 165 (3) 162 84 2) 82
Depreciation and amortisation (25) - (25) (27) - (27)
Operating profit/(loss) 140 (3) 137 57 (2) 55
Profit on sale of property 10 - 2 2 - 1 1
Zﬁ:;ment in valuation of the 1 ) (18) (18) ) 14 14
Investment impairment 17 - - - - (35) (35)
L?E::(rzzlent of intercompany 4 i () (5) i i i
Income from subsidiaries 12 2 - 2 1 - 1
Finance income - - - 1 - 1
Finance costs 13 (117) - (117) (122) - (122)
Net finance costs ' (117) - (117) (121) - (121)
schuites before axaton 25 (2a) ' (63 @) )
Taxation 14 (4) 2 (2) 15 7 22
Profit/(loss) for the period 21 (22) (1) (48) (15) (63)

32




Ei Group Limited

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

4. NON-UNDERLYING leMS {CONTINUED)
Non-underlying operating costs before depreciation and amortisation

In the current period £3 million (2021: £1 million) has been recognised in non-underlying operating costs in
respect of assignment premiums paid to publicans in order to take the assignment of a lease or to break a lease
at any point other than at renewal.

in the current period £nil (2021: £1 million} has been recognised in non-underlying operating costs in respect of
various integration and restructuring costs on acquisition of the Company by Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1
Limited (previously known as Stonegate Pub Company Bidco Limited).

In the current period £5 million (2021: £nil) has been recognised in non underlying impairment of intercompany
balances in respect of an intercompany loan that has been written off.

For further analysis on profit on sale of properties see note 10. For further analysis on movement in valuation
of the estate see notes 11 and 19. For further information on investment of impairments see note 17. For further
analysis on non-underlying tax see note 14.

5. REVENUE

Revenue consists of rental income and revenue earned from the supply of drink products to publicans. Revenue
from amusement and other machines represents our share of the net income earned from machines in our
properties.

All revenue arises in the United Kingdom.

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
£m fm
Drinks revenue 313 187
Rent revenue 87 43
Revenue from amusement and other machines 3 1
403 231

6. OTHER INCOME ,
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
£fm fm
Government grants - 2
- 2

Included within other income is £nil (2021: £2 million) received from the government as part of the Coronavirus
Job Retention Scheme.
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OPERATING PROFIT
Operating profit is stated after charging: 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
fm £m
Cost of sales 171’ 110
Other direct selling costs 3 2
Other property costs 3 3
Administrative costs 61 34
Non-underlying administrative costs 3 2
241 151
Depreciation and amortisation 25 27
266 178

The audit fees of the Company for the 52 weeks ended 25 September 2022 were £131,000 (52 weeks ended 26
September 2021: £130,000). Non-audit services fees of £nil (52 weéks ended 27 September 2021: non-audit
assurance related fees and non-audit services fees of £17,000) have also been incurred.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration has been borne by fellow group Companies and not recharged to the Company. The
remuneration for qualifying services to the entity of the directors was £257,000 for the 52 weeks ended 25

September 2022 (52 weeks ended 26 September 2021: £485,000).

STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

Staff costs consist of:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

fm £m

Wages and salaries - 12
Social security costs - 1
Pension costs - 1
- 14

All Ei Group Limited staff had their employment transferred to Stonegate Pub Company Limited on 1 April 2021
and therefore no staff costs have been incurred in the current period. In the prior period pension costs
represented payments made into employees’ individual defined contribution plans.
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9. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS (CONTINUED)

The average monthly number of employees comprised:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
Operations staff - 86
Administration staff - 384
‘ - 470

The average monthly numbyer of employees in the prior period above is calculated based on the period from
28 September 2020 to 31 March 2021.

10. PROFIT ON SALE OF PROPERTY

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

£m £m

Profits on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 5
Losses on sale of property, plant and equipment ) (1) (3)
Write down in respect of assets held for sale - (1)
2 1

Profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment during the period relates to 27 properties with a carrying
value of £15 million which were sold for proceeds, net of expenses, amounting to £19 million (52 weeks ended
26 September 2021: 52 properties with a carrying value of £19 million which were sold for proceeds, net of
expenses, amounting to £21 million). Also included in profit/(loss) on sale of property was a charge for
estimated dilapidation costs for certain properties of £1 million {52 weeks ended 26 September 2021: £nil) and
£1 million of costs incurred in relation to properties not yet sold (52 weeks ended 26 September 2021: £nil).

In addition, there was a £nil net profit on the sale of one investment property, which had a carrying value of £1
million which was sold for proceeds, net of expenses, amounting to £1 million (52 weeks ended 26 September
2021: four properties with a carrying value of £3 million which were sold for proceeds, net of expenses,
amounting to £3 million).

In the prior period four properties received an additional write down once moved to held for sale, with a
carrying value at the period end of £3 million.
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11. MOVEMENT IN VALUATION OF THE ESTATE

52 weeks ended

52 weeks ended

25 September 26 September
2022 2021
fm £m
Movement in property, plant and equipment from
i 15 (7) 11
revaluation of the estate
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 15 (7) -
Impairment reversal of property, plant and equipment 15 - 2
Impairment of financial assets 27 (2) -
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment on
15 (1) -
transfer to non-current assets held for sale
Impairment of non-current assets held for sale 18 (1) -
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment on
. 15 (1) -
transfer to investment property
Movement in fair value of investment property from
. 16 1 1
revaluation of the estate
(18) 14

INCOME FROM SUBSIDIARIES

52 weeks ended

52 weeks ended

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

" fm £fm

Dividend income received from subsidiaries 2 1
2 1

13. FINANCE COSTS

52 weeks ended

52 weeks ended

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

fm £m

Interest on intercompany loans 102 106
Discounting of lease liabilities 15 16

. Total finance cost 117 122
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14. TAXATION

a) Analysis of total tax credit recognised in the income statement

52 weeks ended 25 September 2022

52 weeks ended 26 September 2021

Non- Non-
Underlying underlying Underlying underlying
items items Total items items Total
fm £fm £m £m fm £m
Current tax
UK Corporation tax (1) (3) (4) (2) - (2)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 11 - 11 2 - 2
Total current tax 10 (3) 7 - - -
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing
differences 7 1 8 (10) 2 (8)
Impact of rate change - - - - (9) (9)
Adjustment in respect of prior years (13) - (13) (5) - (5)
Total deferred tax (6) 1 (5) (15) (7) (22)
Taxation charge/(credit) 4 (2) 2 (15) (7) (22)
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14. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

b) Tax credit reconciliation

The tax assessed for the year is the same as (2021: lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK.
The difference is explained below:

52 weeks ended 25 September 2022 52 weeks ended 26 September 2021
Non- Non-
Underlying underlying Underlying underlying
items items Total items items Total
£m £m £fm fm fm fm
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities
before taxation : 25 (24) 1 (63) (22) (85)
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities
before tax at 19.0% (2021: 19.0%) 5 (5) - (12) (4) (16)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes and non-taxable income 2 2 4 - 8 8
Movement in deferred tax liability
due to indexation* - 1 1 - (2) (2)
Impact of rate change on deferred
tax - - - - , (9) (9)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 3) _ 3) (3) . 3)
Taxation a (2) 2 (15) (7) (22)

* Reflects indexation, or restriction of previously recorded indexation, in respect of rolled over gains or further
indexation, or restriction of previously recognised further indexation in respect of gains unrecognised due to the
application of initial recognition exemption on assets acquired other than through a business combination.
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14. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

c) Deferred tax recognised in the income statement

52 weeks ended 25 September 2022

52 weeks ended 26 September 2021

Non- Non-
Underlying underlying Underlying underlying
items items Total items items Total

£fm fm fm £m £m fm
Adjustments in respect of prior years (13) ' ) (13) (5) _ ()
Accelerated capital allowances 2 } 2 _ ) ()
IFRS 16 transition adjustment _ _ . 1 . 1
Corporate Interest Restriction
disallowance - - - (11) - (11)
Other timing differences 5 ; 5 B _ N
Deferred tax on the movement in the
valuation of the estate* - (2) (2) - 2 2
Movement in deferred tax on
retained properties due to
indexation - 1 1 - (2) (2)
Other adjustments to capital gains
and tax base cost not recognised in
the financial statements - 2 2 - 4 4
Impact of rate change . . R R (9) (9)

(6) 1 (5) (15) (7) (22)

* The £2 million (2021: £2 million charge) deferred tax credit on movement in valuation of the estate includes a
credit of £1 million (2021: £3 million charge) being the tax effect of the charge of £18 million {2021: credit of
£14 million) non-underlying movement in the pub estate and related assets recognised in the income statement
{note 11) net of the impact of the initial recognition exemption, a credit of £2 million (2021: £2 million credit)
being the tax effect of property depreciation and a tax charge of £1 million (2020: £1 million charge) in respect

of properties disposed of.
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TAXATION (CONTINUED)

d) Tax recognised in reserves

52 weeks ended

52 weeks ended

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

£fm fm

Movement in deferred tax on retained properties due to 1 (1)

indexation . .

Movement in deferred tax liability related to revaluation of the ~(5) 5

estate

Impact of rate change on deferred tax liability related to - 18
revaluation of pub estate

Total credit in reserves (4) 22

e) Factors that may affect future tax charges

On 24 May 2021, the UK Government substantively enacted the change in the main rate of corporation tax to
25% from 19% which will come into effect from 1 April 2023. As this change was substantively enacted during
the prior period, there is no rate change in the current year and deferred taxation is calculated at that rate. On
16 March 2023 the UK Government confirmed in their Budget that there will be no further changes to the main )
rate of corporation tax and the increase from 19% to 25% will come into effect from 1 April 2023 as planned.

40



Ei Group Limited

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of- Right-of- Licensed tandlord’s
Use Asset Use Asset Land and Fixtures Other
Property Cars Buildings and Fittings Assets Total
£m fm £m £m fm £fm

Cost or valuation
At 26 September 2021 189 5 1,291 176 45 1,706
Additions 4 - 33 18 - 55
Disposals (3) - - (5) - (8)
Revaluation: )
-Recognised in the revaluation reserve . - (16) . - (16)
-Recognised in the income statement (7) - (7) - - (14)
Revaluation on transfer to investment
property:
-Recognised in the revaluation reserve - - (3) - - (3)
-Recognised in the income statement - - (1} - - (1)
Net transfers to investment properties A7) - (17) (1) - (25)
Revaluation of non-current assets held
for sale to fair value:
-Recognised in the revaluation reserve - - 2 - . 2
-Recognised in the income statement - R (1) - - (1)
Net transfers to non-current assets
held for sale i ) (14) 3) i , 17)
At 25 September 2022 176 5 1,267 185 45 1,678
Accumulated depreciation
At 26 September 2021 13 2 8 60 25 108
Disposals R R R (3) - (3)
Charge for the year 6 1 1 14 3 25
Net transfers to non-current assets (1) (1)
held for sale i ) i i
At 25 September 2022 19 3 9 70 28 129
Net book value:
At 25 September 2022 157 2 1,258 115 17 1,549
At 26 September 2021 176 3 1,283 116 20 1,598

Other assets include office property, plant and equipment, flow metering equipment and non-licenced

properties.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

If licensed land and buildings had been measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as

follows:
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
£m fm
Cost ) 1,123 1,122
Accumulated depreciation (19) " (18)
1,104 1,104

The Company’s freehold and leasehold properties held in property, plant and equipment and investment
property were valued at 25 September 2022 on the basis of open market value for existing use. The valuations
were undertaken in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Manual of the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors in the United Kingdom by GVA Grimley Limited (t/a Avison Young), independent Chartered Surveyors,
or have been valued internally.

These valuations have been incorporated into the financial statements. Any revaluation that causes the book
value of a property held in property, plant and equipment to fall below historic cost results in a charge in the
income statement. If that same property later recovers in value so that its book value exceeds historic cost, the
increase in value is credited to the income statement to the extent that a debit was previously recognised. Any
gain or loss arising from the change in value of investment property is recognised in the income statement.

The total year end revaluation resulted in a total revaluation deficit of £24 million (52 weeks ended 26
September 2021: surplus of £36 million).

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Company leases some properties to tenants on commercial leases, the commercial terms of these leases
result in the assets meeting the criteria of investment property.

Right-of- Land and

Use Asset Buildings Total

£m fm £m

26 September 2021 18 65 83
Additions 1 - 1
Net transfers from property, plant and equipment 7 18 25
Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale- - (1) (1)
Revaluation to fair value (1) 2 1
Net book value at 25 September 2022 25 84 109
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

If investment properties had been measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as follows:

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

£m £m

Cost 74 56

Accumulated depreciation (2) (2)

72 54

17. INVESTMENTS
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
£m fm
Cost or valuation

At start of period 904 939
Impairment - (35)
At the period end 904 904

At the period end, the Company has carried out an impairment review of investments held which involved
calculating a value in use using forecast cash flows, a long term growth rate and a suitable discount rate.

The cashflows used in the impairment review for years one and two following the period end are based on actual
and projected cashflows calculated with reference to pre Covid-19 pandemic levels. The growth rate of 2.5% has
been used in the calculation for years three to five following the period end and 1% thereafter (52 weeks ended
26 September 2021: growth rate of 2.5% has been used in the calculation for years two to five following the
period end and 1% thereafter). ’

The discount rate used is based on the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (WACC) which has been risk
adjusted to reflect current market factors which have not already been captured within the cash flows. The risk
adjusted discount rate used in the testing at 25 September 2022 was 9.04% (26 September 2021: 9.01%).

This has resulted in no impairment to the carrying value of investments held at 25 September 2022 (52 weeks
ended 26 September 2021: an impairment of £35 million resulting in the carrying value of investments at 25
September 2022 being £904 million).

As an assessment of theoretical sensitivities to this impairment review calculation, an increase of 0.25% in the
discount rate used would result a reduction in headroom of £55 million (52 weeks ended 26 September 2021:
impairment of £54 million) or a decrease of 0.25% in the discount rate used would result in an increase in
headroom of £59 million (52 weeks ended 26 September 2021: headroom of £22 million). Similarly an increase
of 0.25% in the short-term and long-term growth rates used would result in an increase in headroom of £48
million (52 weeks ended 26 September 2021: headroom of £24 million) or a decrease of 0.25% in the short-term
and long-term growth rates used would result in a reduction in headroom of £45 million (year ended 26
September 2021: further impairment of £57 million).

The Company’s subsidiaries are listed in note 28.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

18. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

25 September 2022 26 September 2021
Land and tand and
Buildings, - Buildings,
Landlords Right-of Landlords
Right-of- Fixtures U '8 A-o ; Fixtures
Use Asset and Fittings Total se sze and Fittings Total
£m £m £m m £ £m
At start of period - 4 11 15 2 17 19
Net transfer fr operty,
ranster ;rom property ; 16 16 2 12 14
plant and equipment
Net transfer from/(to)
investment properties " 1 1 - 4 4
Write down to fair value
less costs to dispose (1) i (1) B (1) (1)
Disposals - (18) (18) - (21) (21)
At the period end 3 10 13 4 11 15
Representing:
Right of use assets 3 - 3 4 - 4
Property, plant and ) 10 10 : 10 10
equipment
Investment property - - - - 1 1
3 10 . 13 4 11 15

Non-current assets held for sale comprises both freehold and leasehold licensed and unlicensed properties that
have been identified by the Company for disposal as part of the continued disposal programme. The sale of all
assets within this category is expected to be completed within one year of the balance sheet date.

At the end of the prior period non-current assets held for sale includes 17 properties (52 weeks ended 26
September 2021: 22 properties) which are expected to be sold within the next year. At the period end a balance
of £2 million (2021: £3 million) in relation to these properties is held within the revaluation reserve representing
revaluation surpluses.

19. PROPERTY FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In determining the appropriate classes of asset to present for fair value purposes, the Company has considered
the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets. This has resulted in determining two separate classes of assets
being property assets held in property, plant and equipment and property assets held in investment property.

Revaluation of property assets held in property, plant and equipment and investment property

Valuations are carried out on an annua! basis at each period end date. With the exception of properties
identified for disposal and transferred to non-current assets held for sale, the Company's properties were
revalued as at 25 September 2022 by GVA Grimley Limited (t/a Avison Young) or have been valued internally.
For further analysis of the pubs valued by valuer see table below.

All valuations of assets have been assessed as being level 3 valuations, as there are no directly comparable
market observable inputs.
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Ei Group Limited

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

PROPERTY FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Property assets held in property, plant and equipment were valued using fair maintainable trade income (FMT)
capitalised at an appropriate rate of return (as defined within RICS Valuation - 2017 Global Edition) or an
equivalent multiple. This method of valuation involves making an assessment of the fair maintainable rent,
wholesale and machine income that can be generated from the property assuming they are run by a reasonably
efficient operator, taking into account future trading potential. This assessment of profit is then capitalised at
an appropriate multiple to reflect the risks and rewards of the property. In determining the multiple to use, the
valuers consider evidence of comparable market transactions. The resulting fair value of the pub represents the
land and buildings and any fixed Jandlords' fixtures and fittings. The valuation of the managed pub assets is
prepared using a consistent approach that effectively capitalises the net income attributable to the Company
from operating the pub at an appropriate multiple.

Property assets held in investment property include free-of-tie pubs let to tenants at open market rents and

- non-pub assets, which are predominantly blue-chip let convenience stores. These assets have been valued

adopting the investment method of valuation. By reference to the rents, fixed lease terms and market
conditions, an appropriate multiple based on comparable market transactions is applied, discounting future
rental receipts back to present value.

As valuers make reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties an adjustment to any
of these assumptions could lead to a material change in the property valuation.

All classes of asset are, under IFRS 13, required to be valued at highest and best use. IFRS 13 prescribes that the
Company's current use is presumed to be its highest and best value, unless market or other factors suggest that
a different use by market participants would maximise the value of the asset. In doing their valuations, the

“valuers consider whether the asset may have a higher or better feasible use which would be reflected in the fair

value where applicable. This is on an asset by asset basis if there are circumstances to indicate that there may
be a higher and better use. In the current period the highest and best use of all the property assets in property,
plant ahd equipment and investment property has been assessed as their existing use.

The impact of the revaluation is as follows:

25 September 26 September
2022 2021
fm fm

Income Statement
Revaluation loss charged as an impairment (29) (11)
Reversal of past impairments 13 22
Gains on revaluation of investment property 3 4
Losses on revaluation of investment property (3) (3)
Losses on revaluation of non-current assets held for sale (2) - -
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment . 2
(18) 14

45



19

Ei Group Limited
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PROPERTY FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

25 September 26 September -
2022 2021
£m fm
Revaluation reserve
Unrealised surplus 24 41
Reversal of past revaluation surplus (41) (15)
(17) 26

The table below presents, by class of property, the income and multiple bandings within which the properties
have been valued, and the number of properties that have been valued in each of the bandings. In determining
the bandings to use, the Company has considered a variety of options including size and location of property,
but has concluded that the value of the property is principally driven by FMT and multiple, so this forms the

most appropriate disclosure.

Number of pub assets — within property, plant and equipment

Multiple applied to FMT

Total Over12 10-~12 8-10 6-8 Underéb
FMT income bandings number times times times times times
At 26 September 2021
more than £90,000 per annum 516 42 157 272 ‘32 13
£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 697 108 240 274 61 14
less than £60,000 per annum 545 174 178 126 46 21
1,758 324 575 672 139 48
At 25 September 2022
more than £90,000 per annum 438 44 122 238 25 9
£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 680 89 196 313 70 12
less than £60,000 per annum 587 143 192 169 57 26
1,705 276 510 720 152 47
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PROPERTY FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Number of pub assets — within non-currént assets held for sale

Multiple applied to FMT

Total Over12 10-12  8-10 6-8 Under6
FMT income bandings number times times times times times
At 26 September 2021
more than £90,000 per annum 1 - - 1 - -
£60,000 to £90,000 per annum - - - - - -
less than £60,000 per annum 21 3 3 3 3 9
22 3 3 4 3 9
At 25 September 2022
more than £90,000 per annum - - - - - -
£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 4 1 1 1 - 1
less than £60,000 per annum 14 2 1 4 4 3
18 3 2 5 4 4
Number of pub assets — within investment property
Total Over 14 12-14 10-12  Under 10
FMT income bandings number times times times times
At 26 September 2021
more than £90,000 per annum 11 - 9 2 -
£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 33 7 21 4 1
less than £60,000 per annum 37 7 23 2 5
81 14 53 8 6
At 25 September 2022
more than £90,000 per annum 14 - 9 3 2
£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 47 8 23 10 6
less than £60,000 per annum 50 23 19 3 5
111 31 51 16 13

Sensitivity analysis table

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy of the Company's estate are FMT and a multiple. There is a limited amount of interrelation

between the variation in these inputs.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

PROPERTY FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Sensitivity analysis table (continued)

A change in either of these assumptions could have a significant effect on the overall valuation of the estate.
Sensitivities around these assumptions that are deemed to be reasonably likely based on the experience of the

valuers are illustrated below:

25 September 26 September
2022 2021
£m fm
FMT sensitivity

+2.5% 36 37
-2.5% (36) (37)

Muitiple sensitivity
+2.5% 36 36
-2.5% (36) (36)

The majority of the estate has been valued by GVA Grimley Limited (t/a Avison Young) {1,816 properties). The
remaining properties held in Ei Group Limited (209 properties) have been valued by the internal Estates Director
using RICS valuation guidelines. The results of this internal valuation have been compared to that of the external

valuers, to ensure that the results are consistent.

The following table provides a reconciliation of property numbers:

Property, Investment Non-current Total
plant and property  assets held properties
At 25 September 2022 equipment for sale
Properties valued by GVA Grimley Limited (t/a .
Avison Young) 1,705 111 - 1,816
Properties valued internally - - 18 18
Total 1,705 111 18 1,834
Properties held under operating leases 158 33 - 191
Total properties 1,863 144 18 2,025
Property, Investment  Non-current Total
plant and property assets held properties
At 26 September 2021 equipment for sale
Properties valued by GVA Grimley Limited (t/a
Avison Young) 1"758 81 B 1,839
Properties valued internally - - 22 22
Total 1,758 81 22 1,861
Properties held under operating leases 157 28 - . 185
Total properties 1,915 109 22 2,046
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables due in more than one year represent money owed by publicans for the sale of fixtures and

fittings on deferred terms and part of the balance is due in more than one year.

25 September 26 September
2022 2021
fm £m
Trade receivables 2 2
2 2

Trade and other receivables within current assets represents the following:
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
fm fm
Trade receivables 25 20
Amounts due from group undertakings 748 692
Prepayments and accrued income 2 3
Other receivables - 4
775 719

Trade receivables are stated after provisions for impairment of £3 million (52 weeks ended 26 September 2021:

£3 million).

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

fm fm

Trade payables . 27 17
Amounts due to group undertakings 129 77
Sgcial security and other taxes 7 17
Accruals and deferred income 35 58
Other payables 14 15
212 184
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

25 September 26 September
Financial assets 2022 2021
£fm fm

Current .
Other loans receivable - 1
Net investment in sublease 2 1
2 2

Non-current

Loans due from group undertakings (see note 28) 15 25
Net investment in sublease 13 17
28 42_
Total financial assets 30 44

The above loans due from group undertakings, to fund capital expenditure and working capital requirements in
the group undertaking, are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand but are expected to be repaid from
free cash flow generated by the group companies. The loans are deemed to be repayable on demand however
as they are not expected to be repaid within one year they are classified as a non-current asset. Ei Group Limited
has fixed and floating charges in place over the group undertakings assets in respect of these loans.

25 September 26 September
Financial liabilities 2022 2021
£m £m
Current

Loan due to group undertakings {see note 28) ' 75 75
Lease liabilities 8 ) 4
83 79

Non-current
Loan due to group undertakings (see nate 28) 1234 1234
Lease liabilities 257 259
1,491 1,493
Total financial liabilities 1574 1572
Net financial liabilities 1,544 1,528

The Company is also a guarantor on certain loans within the Stonegate Group therefore would be jointly and
severally liable in the case that the relevant entities within the Stonegate Group could not meet their relevant
debt obligations. '

A
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The loan due to group undertakings due after more than one year is owed to the intermediate parent company,
Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited (previously known as Stonegate Pub Company Bidco Limited), which has
the following terms:

25 September 26 September
2022 2021
Interest rate Repayable £m em .
Loan due to group undertakings 8.25% March 2027 1,234 1,234
Total debt 1,234 1,234

The loan due to group undertakings due within ane year is the interest accrued at the balance sheet date in
respect of the above loan due to Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited {previously known as Stonegate Pub
Company Bidco Limited).

Intercompany Loans
Various financial balances arise directly from the Company’s operations. The Company does not trade in financial

instruments.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are liquidity risk and credit risk. There is no
currency exposure as all transactions are in sterling and no interest rate risk since 100% (2021: 100%) of the
loans are borrowed at fixed rates. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised as follows:

Liquidity risk

The Company has exposure to liquidity risk, being the risk that payments cannot be made when they fall due.
The Company's current objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the use of the intercompany debt.

This objective is achieved through the following processes:
e Regular cash flow forecasting and reporting through the treasury function
“e  Regular review of the Company’s cash position and requirements repaying the interest to Leased and
Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited (previously known as Stonegate Pub Company Bidco Limited) as required.

Short-term debtors and creditors
Short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the following disclosures except those arising from

traditional fending and deposit taking activities.

Fair values
The fair value of obligations under lease liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates
currently available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair value of lease liabilities

is equal to the book value of lease liabilities.
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Fair values (continued)

There is no difference between the book value and fair value of loans due to or from group undertakings and

lease liabilities.

23. DEFERRED TAX

The movement in deferred taxation in the period comprises:

25 September 26 September
2022 2021
f£m fm
At start of period 38 38
Movement recognised in reserves {4) 22
Movement recognised in the income statement (5) (22)
At the period end 29 38
The amounts of deferred taxation provided in the accounts are as follows:
25 September 26 September
2022 2021
fm fm
Unrealised surplus on revaluation of fixed assets and rolled 57 60
over gains
Accelerated capital allowances 30 34
Tax losses - (1) -
IFRS 16 transition adjustment (12) (13)
Corporate Interest Restriction disallowance (46) (42)
At the period end 29 38
24. SHARE CAPITAL
25 September 2022 26 September 2021
No. £m £m
Authorised 1,000,000,000 25 1,000,000,000 25
Ordinary shares of 2.5p each
Allotted, called up and fully paid 443,981,347 11 489,190,098 12

Ordinary shares of 2.5p each

Ordinary shares carry no right to fixed income. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to vote at meetings.

At the 25 September 2022 the Company held no treasury shares. At 26 September 2021 the Company owned
45 million shares with a nominal value of £1 million. During the period, on 26 November 2021, the Company’s
45 million of treasury shares with a nominal value of £1 million were cancelled.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
At 25 September 2022

RESERVES

Share premium account

This reserve represents the amount of proceeds received for shares in excess of their nominal value of 2.5 pence
per share.

Revaluation reserve

This reserve shows the surplus generated on revaluation of the estate. it represents the amount by which the
fair value of the estate exceeds its historic cost net of related tax.

Capital redemption reserve

This reserve arose on the repurchase and cancellation of own shares in 1995/96, 2005/06, 2006/07, 2007/08,
2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2021/22.

Merger reserve
This reserve arose as a consequence of the acquisition of Century Inns plc in 1998/99.
Treasury share reserve

This reserve shows the cost of own shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares. These shares
can be cancelled or re-issued.

Other reserve

This comprises the dividends received from Enterprise Pubs Five Limited that cannot be distributed outside the
Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

fm fm

At the period end 3 2
LEASES

Impacts for the period

The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss for which the Company is a lessee:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

Leases under IFRS 16 fm fm
Interest expense on lease liabilities 15 16
Depreciation of right of use assets 6 7
21 23
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LEASES (CONTINUED)
Impacts for the period (continued)

For further information on the carrying amount of additions by underlying class, additions during the period and
net book value at 25 September 2022 please see notes 15, 16 and 18.

The Company as a lessor

The Company lease its licensed estate and other non-licensed properties to tenants. The majority of lease
agreements have terms of between one and 30 years and are classified for accounting purposes as operating
leases. Most of the leases with terms of over three years include RPI or CPI based rent adjustments and provision
for rent reviews on either a three or five year basis. On adoption of IFRS 16, a small number were reclassified as
finance leases with reference to the headlease.

The maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease payments to be received for finance leases is as follows:

25 September 26 September
2022 2021
£m £m
Within one year 2 2
After one year but not more than five years 7 8
In more than five years 18 22
27 32
Future finance cost (12) (14)
: 15 18

Recognised as:
Non-current financial asset 13 17
Current financial asset 2 1
Total undiscounted lease receivable 15 18

Financial assets representing undiscounted lease receivables are stated after provision for impairment of £4
million (52 weeks ending 26 September 2021: £2 million).

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments receivable, showing the undiscounted lease
payments to be received after the reporting date.

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

£m £m

Within one year 67 71
After one year but not more than five years 166 173
In more than five years 135 117
368" 361
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Subsidiaries

The Company's subsidiaries as at the period end are as follows:

Country of
incorporation

Holding

Proportion of
voting rights
and shares held

Nature of business

Directly held by Ei Group Limited:

Enterprise Managed Investments Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Investment holding company
Enterprise Inns Holding Company Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Unique Pubs Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Investment holding company
Ei Publican Services Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Intermediate supply company
Century Inns Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Gibbs Mew Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Enterprise Inns Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Indirectly held by Ei Group Limited:

Unique Pub Properties Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Ownership of licensed properties
Bermondsey Pub Company Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Non-trading
Bestplace (Beta) Limited England Ordinary shares 75% Management of public houses
Bestplace Limited England Ordinary shares 51% Management of public houses
Dirty Liquor Limited England Ordinary shares 75% Management of public houses
Frontier Pubs Limited England Ordinary shares 75% Management of public houses
Hippo Inns Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Non-trading
Hush Heath Inns Limited England Ordinary shares 51% Management of public houses:
Mash Inns Limited England Ordinary shares 51% Management of public houses
Urban Pubs & Bars 2 Limited England Ordinary shares 51% Management of public houses
Old Spot Pub Company Limited England Ordinary shares 75% Management of public houses
Six Cheers Limited England Ordinary shares 51% Management of public houses
The Craft Union Pub Company Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Management of public houses
Vixen Pub Company Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Management of public houses
The Unique Pub Finance Company PLC England Ordinary shares 100% Financing company

Cumulative
_ preference shares 100%

Social Cellar Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Social Cellar (Gamma) Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Dirty Liquor Alpha Limited England Ordinary shares ’ 51% Non-trading
imagegold Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Non-trading
Unique Pub Investments Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Investment holding company
Voyager Pub Group Holdings Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Investment holding company
Voyager Pub Group Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Investment holding company
Bede Holding Company Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Unique Pub Properties Alpha Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Unique Pub Properties Beta Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Unique Pub Properties Gamma Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
Unique Pub Properties Theta Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant
West Midlands Taverns (Holdings) Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Dormant

The registered office of the Company's subsidiary undertakings is 3 Monkspath Hall Road, Solihull, B30 4SJ.

Dur'ing the period the Group acquired the remaining 25% of the shares in Hippo Inns Limited and therefore as a
result the Company is now a 100% indirectly owned subsidiary of Ei Group Limited.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries {continued)

Following the period end the Group acquired the remaining 25% of the shares in Dirty Liquor Limited and
therefore as a result the Company is now a 100% indirectly owned subsidiary of Ei Group Limited. Furthermore,
Dirty Liquor Alpha Limited was dissolved on 7 March 2023.

Transactions with subsidiary undertaking

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 8(k) of FRS101 not to disclose transactions’
with fellow wholly owned group companies. The disclosures below show the value of transactions entered into
with non-wholly owned subsidiaries.

In respect of subsidiaries that are not wholly owned during the 52 weeks ended 25 September 2022 the
Company entered into trading transactions which included revenue of £7 million (52 weeks ended 26 September
2021: £5 million) in relation to rent, drink products and various other recharges including insurance.

During the 52 weeks the Company sold property, plant and equipment at book value for consideration of £nil
(2021: £1 million) to subsidiary undertakings that were not wholly owned. These transactions were funded
through capital expenditure loans which sit within loans due from group undertakings. The Company received
capital expenditure loan repayments from subsidiary undertakings that were not wholly owned of £1 million

(2021: £nil).

During the period the Company has been charged tax group relief surrendered of £6 million 52 weeks ended 26
September 2021: £nil). This has been recharged on to other companies which are wholly owned within the
Group.

The following group balances were outstanding at the period end. These balances include wholly owned group
companies.

25 September 26 September

2022 2021

£m fm

Amounts due from group undertakings 748 692
Amounts due to group undertakings (129) (77)
619 615

Loans due from group undertakings 15 25
Loans due to group undertakings (1,309) (1,309)
(1,294) (1,284)

PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The Company’s immediate parent undertaking is Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited (previously known as
Stonegate Pub Company Bidco Limited), a company incorporated in the United Kingdom and registered in
England and Wales. The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking is Stonegate Pub Company Topco Sarl, a
company incorporated in Luxembourg.

The top UK company which the Company is consolidated into is Stonegate Pub Company PIKCO Holdings Limited.
The ultimate controlling parties are various investment funds managed by TDR Capital LLP, a private equity
management firm. The business address of TDR Capital LLP is 20 Bentinck Street, London, W1U 2EU.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Subsequent to the year end on 23 January 2023 the Company issued 50,538,214,520 bonus shares from its
capital reserves. On the following day it carried out a capital reduction to realise its share premium account,
capital redemption reserve and the bonus share capital it had issued the previous day. The Company then
distributed 767 of its pubs to its parent, Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited, on 25 January 2023 by way of a
dividend in specie, this reduced net assets by £587 million. At the same time intercompany leases were
established between the Company and Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited to mirror the terms of the
occupational leases the Company continues to hold with third parties in the pubs. A further 204 pubs were
distributed by way of a dividend in specie to Leased and Tenanted Pubs 1 Limited on 21 April 2023, reducing net
assets by a further £165 million and additional intercompany leases established.

Following the period end, on 31 March 2023, Enterprise Managed Investments Limited acquired the remaining
25% of the shares in Dirty Liquor Limited and therefore as a result the Company is now a 100% indirectly owned
subsidiary of Ei Group Limited. Furthermore, Dirty Liquor Alpha Limited was dissolved on 7 March 2023.
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